IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0281

---

SADDLEBROOK INVESTMENTS, LLC,  
as Assignee of STUART M. SIMONSEN,

*Plaintiff-Appellee,*

v.

ANTHONY BIRBILIS,

*Defendant-Appellant.*

---

**Appeal from Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Yellowstone County**  
**Case No. DV 15-0391**  
**Hon. Jessica Fehr**

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

---

ANTHONY BIRBILIS  
29 East 9th Street, Apt. 5  
New York, New York 10003  
Phone: (917)539-5403  
tony@birbilis.com

*Appearing Pro Se*

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Birbilis appeals from the district court's entry of default judgment against Birbilis in the amount of Thirty-Five Million Dollars (\$35,000,000.00). *See* Dkt. 118. In its original complaint, Appellee asserts six causes of action against Birbilis, to wit, Count I (Misappropriation of Trade Secrets), Count III (Abuse of Process), Count IV (Breach of Fiduciary Duty), Count V (Tortious Interference), Count VI (Fraud), and Count VII (Conspiracy). *See* Dkt. 7. On December 5, 2019, Counts I, V, and VI were dismissed, leaving only Counts III, IV, and VII pending against Birbilis. *See* Dkt. 43. Default judgment was entered against Birbilis on December 13, 2021. *See* Dkt. 79. Thereafter, summary judgment was granted in favor of the other defendants, *inter alia*, pursuant to the doctrine of judicial estoppel, as Appellee had failed to properly disclose its claims in the instant action in a prior bankruptcy proceeding. *See* Dkt. 106. Nevertheless, a prove-up hearing was still held with respect to the default judgment entered against Birbilis, and the amount of said judgment was fixed on April 18, 2023. *See* Dkt. 118.

Birbilis also appeals from the district court's denial of Birbilis's Motion to Dismiss. *See* Dkt. 43. Most significantly, in his motion, Birbilis argued that the (1) district court lacks personal jurisdiction over Birbilis, and (2) Appellee lacks standing to bring the instant action. *See* Dkt. 24. On December 5, 2019, the district court rejected said arguments, despite later finding that Appellee was, in fact, barred

from asserting its claims in the instant action for the same reasons as previously raised by Birbilis in his motion to dismiss. Thereafter, on August 28, 2020, Birbilis sought a writ of supervisory control, which was denied. *See* Montana S. Ct. No. OP 20-0428.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- I. Did the district court properly enter judgment against Birbilis where the court also found that Appellee was judicially estopped from asserting said claims?
- II. Did the district court have personal jurisdiction over Birbilis?
- III. Did Appellee possess standing to bring the underlying action?
- IV. Were the causes of action asserted in the underlying action time barred?

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **I. Dispute Regarding Ownership and Utilization of Xynaquant Software.**

The initial complaint (the “Complaint”) in the underlying action was filed on April 3, 2015. *See* Dkt. 1. Thereafter, on March 16, 2018, Plaintiff filed its First Amended Complaint and Jury Demand in said action. *See* Dkt. 7. The gravamen of the underlying action stems from a dispute related to proprietary trading software known as Xynaquant, which Stuart M. Simonsen (“Simonsen”), a principal of Appellee, claims that he developed and owns.<sup>1</sup> *See* Dkt. 7, ¶¶ 10-11. In or about

---

<sup>1</sup> This software has gone by different names, including i98 and Jarvis, however, for purposes of clarity, Birbilis shall refer to said software herein as Xynaquant.

2007, Birbilis met Simonsen and, after learning about Xynaquant, procured a client who desired to trade using Xynaquant. *See Id.* at ¶ 12. To facilitate further investment, Simonsen and Birbilis set up two funds, Axiodyn and Axioquantum, which were designed to trade using Xynaquant. *Id.*

During the process of setting up Axiodyn and Axioquantum, on May 15, 2009, Simonsen purported to assign “all of Simonsen’s right, title and interest in and to [Xynaquant]” to Axiodyn. *See* Dkt. 25, p. 6. Thereafter, on February 16, 2010, Simonsen similarly purported to assign all of his interest in separate intellectual property, to wit, the “Karla” trading system, to Axioquantum.<sup>2</sup> *Id.* By these assignments, it is clear that any interest which Simonsen may have possessed in Xynaquant was assigned to Axiodyn and/or Axioquantum.

This point is further demonstrated by the Axiodyn Operating Agreement, which states that “all Intellectual Property ... is the sole property of [Axiodyn] and that no Member has any personal ownership in such Intellectual Property.” *Id.* Additionally, Axiodyn’s intellectual property only reverted back to Simonsen upon Axiodyn’s dissolution, which could have occurred no earlier than June 1, 2016, when Axiodyn was “cancelled” by the Delaware Division of Corporations for failure to pay applicable Delaware tax. *See Id.*, pgs. 6-7.

---

<sup>2</sup> Karla is a derivative product, created entirely utilizing the same code as i98 and Jarvis, but which was designed to operate on a more universal platform.

Separately, another individual, Lyle Vaden, claims to be the creator of Xynaquant, and further asserts that he entered into an agreement with Simonsen whereby Simonsen would split the proceeds from Xynaquant equally between them. *See Id.*, p. 5. Vaden subsequently claimed \$2,437,130.05 in Simonsen's bankruptcy, based upon Simonsen's improper retention of Xynaquant proceeds. Dkt. 22, Ex. A, ¶ 1.

At the time Simonsen initiated the underlying action, Simonsen could not have been the rightful owner of Xynaquant, as either (1) Vaden was the rightful owner of Xynaquant, and Simonsen never possessed an ownership interest in the software, or (2) Simonsen assigned any ownership interest he may have had to Axiodyn and/or Axioquantum, and ownership of Xynaquant could not have reverted back to Simonsen prior to June 1, 2016.

In or about 2011, Simonsen and Birbilis, along with Simonsen's accountant JoAnne Beringer, formed a new entity, to wit, Kapidyia Capital Partners, LLC ("Kapidyia"), for the purpose of offering managed trading accounts utilizing Xynaquant. *See* Dkt. 25, p. 3. Krohne Fund, L.P. ("Krohne Fund") became a Kapidyia client and established an account in or around August 2011. *Id.*

Kapidyia's activities resulted in multiple lawsuits, one with Krohne Fund (the "KF Litigation") and the other with members of Axiodyn and Axioquantum (the "Kaga Litigation"). The KF Litigation related to losses incurred by Krohne

Fund with respect to manual trades that were made in Krohne Fund's account, despite the fact that all trading was to be fully automated. *Id.*

The Kaga Litigation related to Simonsen's improper use of Axiodyn and Axioquantum's intellectual property through Kapidyia. In the Kaga Litigation, Simonsen filed a counterclaim against Birbilis, alleging that it was Birbilis who suspended computerized trading and caused the losses incurred by Krohne Fund. *Id.* at pgs. 12-13. The allegations made against Birbilis in the counterclaim in the Kaga Litigation mirror the allegations made against Birbilis in the Saddlebrook Litigation. *Id.* at p. 13.

The Kaga Litigation, including Simonsen's counterclaim against Birbilis, was ultimately settled on January 5, 2017.<sup>3</sup> As a settlement term, Simonsen agreed "that any claim, counterclaim or otherwise that he or the Corporate Defendants may have in this action, including but not limited to such claim against the Axioquantum Plaintiffs and Birbilis, is discontinued with prejudice." *Id.*

Simonsen's claims in the underlying action are premised upon the same conduct alleged in the counterclaim against Birbilis in the Kaga Litigation. Birbilis, however, is a citizen of New York. *Id.* at p. 9. As a basis for the exercise of personal jurisdiction over Birbilis, Simonsen alleged that Birbilis "transacted

---

<sup>3</sup> Said settlement occurred after the filing of the Saddlebrook Litigation by Simonsen, but prior to Simonsen effectuating service.

business within Montana, committed acts resulting in the accrual within Montana of tort actions, or entered into contracts for services to be rendered in Montana.” *See* Ex. 1, ¶ 8. The alleged contacts include Birbilis testifying in the KF Litigation in Montana and Birbilis travelling to Montana to meet Simonsen no more than four times. *See* Dkt. 43, p. 20; *see also* Dkt. 22, Ex. G, p. 1.

## **II. Simonsen Failed to Disclose the Instant Claims in Bankruptcy.**

On January 10, 2014, Simonsen filed a voluntary petition for bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Montana (Case No. 14-60015-BPH) (the “Simonsen Bankruptcy”). *See Id.* at Ex. E. Thereafter, on February 4, 2014, Simonsen filed his bankruptcy schedules where he was required, *inter alia*, to identify any potential claims that he might have against any third party. *See Id.* at Ex. L. The only such claim identified by Simonsen is a “counterclaim against BDS Quant Capital LLC.” *Id.* at p. 7. Nowhere in the bankruptcy schedules does Simonsen identify any of the claims asserted in the underlying action. *See Id.*

As discussed *supra*, Appellee initially filed the underlying action on April 3, 2015, however, Appellee elected not to issue or serve summonses upon any defendant at that time. *See* Dkt. 1. At the time that Appellee filed said action, Simonsen was aware of his purported claims asserted therein. Despite this, Simonsen never amended his bankruptcy schedules to reflect said claims, despite amending said schedules twice for other reasons, a fact which is admitted by

Appellee. *See* Dkt. 22, Exs. M & N (amended bankruptcy schedules); *see also* Dkt. 96, p. 2 (Appellee admits that “Krohne Fund notes correctly that Simonsen’s bankruptcy schedules did not specifically list the claims Saddlebrook is asserting in this case.”).

On August 14, 2014, the trustee in the Simonsen Bankruptcy, Darcy M. Crum (“Trustee”), initiated an adversary proceeding against Simonsen, wherein the Trustee alleged that Simonsen had “undertook actions, engaged in transactions and transferred property of the Debtor ... to place the property outside the reach of Debtor’s creditors, to impede Debtor’s creditors in the lawful enforcement of their rights, and to present the appearance of a lack of assets on the part of the Debtor.” *See* Dkt. 22, Ex. O, ¶ 6.

In said proceeding, the Trustee alleged that one of the ways in which Simonsen sought to secrete assets from his bankruptcy estate was through the use of various sham entities, such as Grizzly Peak Limited Partnership (“Grizzly Peak”), an Arizona limited partnership which was owned primarily by Simonsen’s trust, organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Belize, which Simonsen used as a conduit to funnel funds to himself under the guise of a “Accounts Receivable Financing Agreement,” which purportedly allowed Simonsen to receive money as an advance on certain undisclosed receivables. *Id.* at pgs. 3-4. Simonsen and the Trustee ultimately reached a settlement in the adversary proceeding,

however, Simonsen again failed to disclose the existence of the claims being asserted in the underlying action as part of said settlement.

During the pendency of the Simonsen Bankruptcy, and the adversary proceeding, on March 16, 2018, Appellee filed its first amended complaint in the underlying action, and finally elected to serve the defendants therein. *See* Dkt. 7. Thereafter, on October 31, 2018, the Trustee filed her Final Report/Account of Assets, which included Simonsen's "Asset Cases," but which did not list any of the claims being asserted in the underlying action. *See* Simonsen Bankruptcy, Dkt. 494, pgs. 9-10. On December 3, 2018, the Simonsen Bankruptcy was closed.

### **III. Relevant Procedural History.**

On April 20, 2018, Birbilis filed his motion to dismiss, which sought dismissal, *inter alia*, (1) pursuant to Montana Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2) because the district court lacked personal jurisdiction over Birbilis, and (2) pursuant to Montana Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) because Appellee (i) lacked standing to bring the underlying action, (ii) released any claims it may have had against Axiodyn and, by extension, Birbilis, and covenanted not to sue, (iii) waived any claim it may have had against Birbilis, (iv) should be judicially estopped from asserting the underlying claims because they were never disclosed in the Simonsen Bankruptcy, and (v) failed to file the underlying claims within the applicable statute of limitations rendering said claims time barred. *See* Dkt. 24.

On December 5, 2019, the district court denied Birbilis's motion to dismiss and held, *inter alia*, that the district court possessed personal jurisdiction over Birbilis and that Birbilis's argument regarding judicial estoppel was not a basis for dismissal at the pleading stage. *See* Dkt. 43. Birbilis thereafter sought a writ of supervisory control from this Court, however, on September 15, 2020, this Court denied said petition, on the basis that there was no reason presented as to why the normal appeal process would be inadequate in the instant action. *See* Order (Sep. 15, 2020), Case No. OP 20-0428.

Thereafter, Birbilis was unable to afford local counsel to represent him in the underlying action and, as a result, on December 13, 2021, default judgment was entered against Birbilis. *See* Dkt. 79. At that time, the district court set a date, to wit, January 5, 2022, for the setting of damages with respect to said default judgment. *See Id.* Said hearing was subsequently vacated, however, and not immediately reset pending trial. *See* Dkt. 81.

Prior to trial, however, on January 17, 2022, Krohne Fund filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that Appellee "is barred by the principle of judicial estoppel from bringing these claims because these claims were not disclosed as an asset during Simonsen's bankruptcy even though the claims in this matter by Simonsen were filed before this Court during the pendency of the bankruptcy proceeding." Dkt. 86, Ex. 1.

On October 19, 2022, the district court granted Krohne Fund's motion for summary judgment, holding that "the overwhelming weight of caselaw and statutory text demonstrates that Simonsen's actions were intended to deceive his creditors and the Bankruptcy Court, and as such, this Court finds it inequitable to grant him an advantage based upon his actions. Judicial estoppel applies and precludes Simonsen's cause of action." Dkt. 106, p. 12. Tellingly, the district court does not state that its holding applies only to claims asserted against any individual defendant, but to "Simonsen's cause of action" as a whole. *Id.*

Despite entering summary judgment and finding that Simonsen was judicially estopped from bringing the underlying action, the district court nevertheless scheduled the prove-up hearing for Birbilis's default on February 16, 2023. *See* Dkt. 108. In the same order, the district court held that Appellee "shall provide Defendant Birbilis with a copy of this order thirty (30) days prior to the above scheduled damages hearing." *Id.*

The day before the hearing, to wit, on February 15, 2023, counsel for Appellee filed its "Brief Before Hearing on Damages," wherein Appellee admitted, *inter alia*, that it did not comply with the district court's prior order dated November 1, 2022, and that there had been no confirmation of delivery of the certified letter purportedly mailed to Birbilis providing notice of said hearing date. *See* Dkt. 111, pgs. 1-2. Birbilis contacted counsel for Appellee, after the occurrence of the

hearing, in an effort to obtain an extension of the hearing date. *See* Dkt. 115. Despite this, no extension was granted, and the district court ultimately entered judgment on the same claims which were summarily dismissed on October 19, 2022, against Birbilis in the amount of Thirty-Five Million Dollars (\$35,000,000.00). *See* Dkt. 118. In the findings of facts in support of the entry of judgment, the district court does not address the fact that Appellee had been previously estopped from asserting the claims upon which judgment was entered against Birbilis with respect to another defendant in the same action. *See* Dkt. 117.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The district court did not properly enter judgment against Birbilis because Appellee was judicially estopped from bringing the claims against Birbilis in the underlying action, for the reasons set forth by the Court in its grant of summary judgment in favor of Krohne Fund. *See* Dkt. 106.

The district court did not possess personal jurisdiction as Birbilis lacks sufficient contacts with Montana to support the exercise of personal jurisdiction.

Appellee lacked standing to bring the underlying action because any claims asserted therein properly belonged to the Trustee of the Simonsen Bankruptcy.

The claims made against Birbilis are time barred, as there exist no allegations against Birbilis in the underlying action for conduct which occurred after December 2011, over three years prior to the filing of said action.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A finding of fact is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence, if the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence or if, upon reviewing the record, this Court is left with the definite and firm conviction that the district court made a mistake.” *See In re S.T.*, 2008 MT 19, ¶ 8, 341 Mont. 176, 176 P.3d 1054 (citation omitted). This Court reviews a district court’s conclusions of law de novo to determine whether they are correct. *See Giambra v. Kelsey*, 2007 MT 158, ¶ 28, 338 Mont. 19, 162 P.3d 134 (citations omitted).

This Court reviews mixed questions of law and fact de novo. *See Stop Over Spending Mont. v. State*, 2006 MT 178, ¶ 10, 333 Mont. 42, 139 P.3d 788 (citation omitted). Mixed questions of law and fact are presented to this Court when the historical facts of a case are admitted or established, the applicable law is undisputed, and the issue is whether the facts satisfy the statutory standard. *Id.*

A court’s determination as to its jurisdiction is a conclusion of law, which is reviewed de novo to determine whether the court’s interpretation of the law is correct. *See Bunch v. Lancair Int’l, Inc.*, 2009 MT 29, ¶ 15, 349 Mont. 144, 202 P.3d 784 (citation omitted).

The determination of a party’s standing to maintain an action is a question of law, which this Court reviews de novo. *See Heffernan v. Missoula City Council*, 2011 MT 91, ¶ 28, 360 Mont. 207, 255 P.3d 80 (citations omitted).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The District Court Erred in Entering Judgment Against Birbilis on Causes of Action which Appellee was Judicially Estopped from Asserting.**

In ruling on Krohne Fund's motion for summary judgment, the district court was explicit in its ruling that Appellee was judicially estopped from asserting its claims in the underlying action because "Simonsen's actions were intended to deceive his creditors and the Bankruptcy Court, and as such, [it is] inequitable to grant him an advantage based upon his actions." Dkt. 106, p. 12.

The argument made by Krohne Fund in support of its motion for summary judgment largely mirrors the argument made by Birbilis in his motion to dismiss. *Compare* Dkt. 25 with Dkt. 86, Ex. 1. The findings made by the district court with respect to Appellee being estopped from asserting the underlying action against Krohne Fund are equally applicable to Birbilis. To allow Appellee to collect from Birbilis on actions it has been judicially estopped from asserting would be tantamount to granting precisely the "advantage" that the district court held is inappropriate. *See* Dkt. 106, p. 7; *see also* *Hamilton v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 270 F.3d 778 (9th Cir. 2001); *Rissetto v. Plumbers & Steamers Local 343*, 94 F.3d 597, 600-01 (9th Cir. 1996); *Russell v. Rolfs*, 893 F.2d 1033, 1037 (9th Cir. 1990).

#### **A. The District Court Correctly Held that Appellee was Judicially Estopped from Asserting Claims in the Underlying Action.**

The doctrine of judicial estoppel "precludes a party from gaining an advantage

by asserting one position, and then later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position.” *Posen v. Ozier*, 2017 WL 4269957, at \*7 (D. Mont., Sep. 26, 2017) (citing *Hamilton v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 270 F.3d 778, 782 (9th Cir. 2001)). To determine whether said doctrine is applicable in a bankruptcy context, a court must consider three factors, to wit, whether “(1) a party takes clearly inconsistent positions by failing to disclose a legal claim in bankruptcy and then subsequently brings suit on the undisclosed claim; (2) there was judicial acceptance or reliance on the party’s prior position; and (3) the party receives an unfair advantage by failing to disclose the claim.” *Id.* (citing *Hamilton*, 270 F.3d at 783-85).

Here, it is undoubtedly true that (1) Simonsen failed to disclose claims against the defendants in the underlying action in the Simonsen Bankruptcy, and thereafter sought to bring suit upon those claims, albeit through a corporate alter ego, (2) there was judicial acceptance based upon Simonsen’s prior position, as the settlement agreement for the adversary proceeding within the bankruptcy was approved, and (3) Simonsen clearly benefitted because he was able to settle the claims made by the Trustee therein while preserving the claims asserted in the underlying action for his own personal benefit. *See* Dkt. 22, Ex. Q.

The district court correctly held that Simonsen’s conduct warranted judicial estoppel, holding that:

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