# FILED

11/09/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0281

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0281

SADDLEBROOK INVESTMENTS, LLC, as Assignee of STUART M. SIMONSEN,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

ANTHONY BIRBILIS,

Defendant and Appellant.

## **APPELLEE'S RESPONSE BRIEF**

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, the Honorable Jessica T. Fehr, Presiding

Anthony Birbilis 29 East 9th Street, Apt. 5 New York, New York 10003 Telephone: (917) 539-5403 tony@birbilis.com

Appearing pro se

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court acted within its discretion when it sanctioned Birbilis by entering default judgment for his willful and prejudicial repeated noncompliance with the District Court's orders. That the Court later granted summary judgment to a different defendant based on judicial estoppel is immaterial because Birbilis made no motion for summary judgment, his motion to dismiss based on judicial estoppel was properly denied because it was premised on allegations that were subject to dispute, and he refused repeatedly to comply with *pro hac vice* rules and the Court's orders.

The District correctly resolved Birbilis's other pre-answer motions by construing the complaint in the light most favorable to Saddlebrook and holding that Saddlebrook, as the assignee of Simonsen, is the real party in interest, that Birbilis availed himself of the privilege of conducting activities in Montana that gave rise to the claims asserted in this action, and that nothing in the complaint established that Saddlebrook's claims were waived or barred by a statute of limitations.

Birbilis's appeal relies on disputed evidence and presents arguments that were not preserved below.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The District Court Did Not Err When It Sanctioned Birbilis with Default Judgment Pursuant to M. R. Civ. P. 16(f).

Birbilis argues here for the first time that default judgment was improper because the District Court later granted summary judgment to Krohne Fund. The District Court sanctioned Birbilis properly based on a well-documented history of disregard for the District Court's orders and his dilatory and prejudicial conduct in this matter.

## A. The District Court's Later Decision Regarding Judicial Estoppel Has No Bearing on This Appeal.

Birbilis first asks this Court to reverse the default judgment against him because the District Court later granted summary judgment to defendant Krohne Fund on a judicial estoppel theory. Birbilis did not challenge the default judgment through a Rule 55 motion to set aside or a Rule 60 motion for relief from judgment. As a result, the District Court had no opportunity to consider Birbilis's argument.

This Court "do[es] not address an issue raised for the first time on appeal." *Hoff v. Lake Cnty. Abstract & Title Co.*, 2011 MT 118, ¶¶ 34-35, 360 Mont. 461, 468-69, 255 P.3d 137, 143 (refusing to address whether default judgment proper where defaulted party had not moved for relief from the default judgment).<sup>7</sup> See

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Inexplicably, in *Hoff*, the prevailing party – *not the defaulted party* – raised the issue on appeal. *Id*.

also, Molnar v. Mont. PSC, 2008 MT 49, ¶ 11, 341 Mont. 420, 424, 177 P.3d 1048,

1051 ("The rationale for this rule is that we refuse to fault a trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider.") (internal quotations omitted).

Birbilis gave up the right to raise the issue below because he refused to abide

by Montana's rules and the District Court's orders. The default judgment entered

against him is entirely distinct from this action's merits, being that it was entered

as a sanction for his conduct and noncompliance with the District Court's orders.<sup>8</sup>

# B. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Sanctioning Birbilis with Default Judgment.

Saddlebrook moved for sanctions under Rule 16(f), M.R.Civ.P., which

authorizes a district court to award sanctions.

(1) In General. On motion or on its own, the court may issue any just orders, including those authorized by Rule 37(b)(2)(A)(ii)-(vii), if a party or its attorney:

- (A) fails to appear at a scheduling or other pretrial conference;
- (B) is substantially unprepared to participate or does not participate in good faith in the conference; or
- (C) fails to obey a scheduling or other pretrial order.

The sanctions authorized by Rule 16(f) incorporate those permitted in Rule

37, which are broad, and include the entry of a default judgment against a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The question of whether summary judgment was properly granted to Krohne Fund based on judicial estoppel has not been resolved. It will be addressed in Saddlebrook's appeal from that decision, which is pending in *Saddlebrook Investments, LLC, as Assignee of Stuart M. Simonsen, v. Krohne Fund, L.P.*, DA 23-0246.

disobedient party. M.R.Civ.P. 37(b)(2)(A)(ii-vii); *McKenzie v. Scheeler*, 285 Mont. 500, 511, 949 P.2d 1168, 1174 (1997); *Watson v. West*, 2009 MT 342, ¶24, 353 Mont. 120, 126-27, 218 P.3d 1227, 1232. Sanctions may be imposed in response to a motion, or by a court on its own initiative. *McKenzie*, 285 Mont, at 512.

Birbilis repeatedly failed to obey the court's orders, failed to file responsive pleadings, failed to appear or have an attorney appear on his behalf at the default judgment hearings, and overall caused numerous delays and expressed disregard for the judicial process. Given his past behavior and inexcusable actions, the default sanction imposed by the District Court was justified and well within its discretion.

### 1. Birbilis Had a History of Absenteeism and Delay

After his motion to dismiss was denied, Birbilis effectively stopped participating in this case. He delayed filing an answer for almost a year. During that time, he received a Rule 10 Notice informing him of case deadlines and notifying him that Saddlebrook would seek his default if he failed to file an answer, all of which he ignored.

When he finally filed his answer, he resumed his pattern of absenteeism, ignoring Saddlebrook's attempts to arrange a pretrial meeting as mandated by the District Court's scheduling order, frustrating the parties' ability to prepare for trial. This pattern of conduct continued through the remainder of the litigation, as

Birbilis successively ignored Saddlebrook's motion for sanctions, two more Rule 10 notices, Saddlebrook's motion in limine, and its motion for entry of default judgment.

Birbilis's *pro hac vice* counsel did appear telephonically at the October 1 motions hearing, which motivated the District Court to impose a lesser sanction than default. But nothing changed. Birbilis afterwards became absent from the case again, squandering the District Court's leniency.

Similarly, despite receiving notice of the default judgment and damages hearing, Birbilis remained absent, only to momentarily materialize via an email sent *after* the hearing had concluded. Once again, this bought him more time, as the District court did not want to enter its findings right away in order to provide Birbilis one last chance to offer a defense. Yet two more months passed, and he failed to act.

This appeal is the first time Birbilis has complied with deadlines or timely sought extensions on briefs, but he still failed to cooperate in the mediation process mandated by Rule 7, M.R.App.P. He did not submit a statement of position and he ignored the appointed mediators multiple entreaties.

## 2. Default Judgment was an Appropriate Sanction.

The entry of default judgment as a sanction is appropriate "where counsel or a party has acted willfully or in bad faith in failing to comply with the rules of

discovery, with court orders enforcing the rules, or in flagrant disregard of those rules." *Stokes v. Ford Motor Co.*, 2013 MT 29, ¶ 18, 368 Mont. 365, 370, 300 P.3d 648, 652-53. This Court "has consistently deferred to a district court's imposition of sanctions because the trial judge is in the best position to know . . . which parties callously disregard the rights of their opponents and other litigants seeking their day in court" and is further "also in the best position to determine which sanction is the most appropriate." *Smart v. Molinario*, 2004 MT 21, ¶ 8, 319 Mont. 335, 337, 83 P.3d 1284, 1286 (ellipsis in original).

While it is well understood that a trial on the merits is generally preferred to a judgment by default, the merits of Saddlebrook's claims against Birbilis were never presented at trial precisely because of Birbilis's actions and inactions, and no matter the strength of a party's prosecution or defense, a party cannot disregard the court's rules with impunity.

In Audit Services v. Kraus Construction, Inc., 189 Mont. 94, 615 P.2d 183 (1980), this Court quoted with approval and applied the following standard for entering a default judgment as a sanction under M. R. Civ. P. 37:

[D]efault judgment must normally be viewed as available only when the adversary process has been halted because of an essentially unresponsive party. In that instance, the diligent party must be protected lest he be faced with interminable delay and continued uncertainty as to his rights. The default judgment remedy serves as such a protection. Furthermore, the possibility of a default is a deterrent to those parties who choose delay as part of their litigative strategy. *Audit Services, 615 P.2d at 187-88* (overruled on unrelated grounds). Whether delay was or was not part of Birbilis's strategy, he certainly caused delays.

Judge Fehr took appropriate steps to protect the rights of Saddlebrook, which was prejudiced when Birbilis and his counsel refused to respond to emails, failed to participate in the court-mandated conference to prepare the pretrial order, and ignored multiple Rule 10 notices. Saddlebrook incurred the expense of filing multiple motions and briefs related to sanctions, and of having counsel present at hearings that were only necessary because of Birbilis's actions and inactions. "These expenses were incurred as a direct result of [Birbilis's] lack of diligence and disregard for the court's orders." *Watson v. West*, 2009 MT 342, at ¶ 28.

Birbilis was warned that default judgment was a potential sanction on two occasions. First, in Saddlebrook's request for sanctions (which Birbilis ignored), and second, at the hearing his attorney attended where the District Court explained that it was already prepared to enter default, but decided to impose a lesser sanction and effectively provide Birbilis with what amounted to a second chance. Instead, Birbilis failed to take advantage of the District Court's leniency, and willfully disobeyed its orders once again.

The District Court took Birbilis's conduct into consideration and imposed sanctions that appropriately matched the level of misconduct that had occurred, as well as the prejudice to Saddlebrook in the additional delay and expense added to

the already substantial long-running tally dating back a decade earlier to Krohne Fund's federal suit in 2012.

### **II.** The District Court Did Not Err in Denying Birbilis's Motion to Dismiss.

Birbilis's motion to dismiss was based almost entirely on evidence he attempted to introduce through a contemporaneous motion for judicial notice, which the District Court properly denied. Therefore, Birbilis's evidence is not part of the record.

The District Court viewed the well-pled allegations contained in Saddlebrook's Complaint in the light most favorable to Saddlebrook and found them sufficient to survive Birbilis's motion to dismiss, as they establish standing and personal jurisdiction, and taken as true, entitle Saddlebrook to relief. Further, Birbilis's affirmative defenses are not supported by the Complaint. The District Court properly denied the motion to dismiss.

# A. Birbilis's Motion to Dismiss Relies Upon Evidence Which the District Court Properly Declined to Consider

Though Birbilis has not asked this Court to review the District Court's denial of his motion for judicial notice, he continues to rely heavily on materials outside the record that he presented as exhibits to that motion, which he filed at the same time as his motion to dismiss. CR 22. The "facts" he recites and the evidence he cites are clearly subject to reasonable dispute and therefore were properly ignored when evaluating his motion to dismiss. For example, in support of his argument that Simonsen and Saddlebrook lack standing to pursue the claims in this action, Birbilis asserts Simonsen unconditionally assigned all his interest in Xynaquant. *See* CR 25, pp. 4-7. Despite acknowledging that "[t]he provenance of Xynaquant has been the subject of a very protracted and contentious dispute," Birbilis nevertheless cites an exhibit from outside the record purporting to evince this alleged assignment.

As another example, Birbilis asserts that standing is lacking because "[Lyle] Vaden has claimed ownership of Xynaquant, and Simonsen has agreed to assign his ownership interest in Xynaquant to Axiodyn and/or Axioquantum." Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 26. Birbilis immediately follows this assertion by acknowledging that "these statements both cannot be true." *Id*.

By further example, Birbilis cites the formation documents for Axiodyne and Axioquantum – two entities he helped create – as support for his argument that Simonsen assigned his rights to Xynaquant or otherwise waived his claims against Birbilis. But his argument is one of convenience. If his assertion were true, Birbilis knew he was violating rights owned by Axiodyne and Axioquantum when he marketed Xynaquant through Kapidyia. Of course, he never made that argument when he stood to benefit from providing Xynaquant through Kapidyia.

As Judge Fehr said, "Facts which are argumentative and/or require additional information to verify their truth will not be judicially noticed....

Additionally, facts which are mere conclusory statements on the evidence and law will not be judicially noticed." CR 43, p. 16 (citing *Leahy v. Dept. of Revenue*, 266 Mont. 94, 101, 879 P.2d 653, 657 (1994). Furthermore, "[w]hen a court takes judicial notice of another court's opinion, it may do so not for the truth of the facts recited therein, but for the existence of the opinion, which is not subject to reasonable dispute over its authenticity." *Id.* (citing *Lee v. City of Los Angeles*, 250 F.3d 668, 690 (9th Cir. 2001)).

By his own presentation, Birbilis has demonstrated that the evidence he relies upon is disputed; in fact, his argument seems to hinge on the existence of disputes. The District Court rightly concluded that Birbilis failed to meet his burden in showing that the materials he requested the District Court take judicial notice of were not subject to reasonable dispute.

Birbilis has not challenged the District Court's denial of his motion for judicial notice. For that reason as well as the reasons presented above, the Court's order must be affirmed. And, because that motion was properly denied, Birbilis's arguments for dismissing Saddlebrook's case based on waiver, judicial estoppel, and limitation statutes all fail.

# **B.** Saddlebrook's Complaint Sufficiently Pleads Facts, Which, if True, Entitle It to Relief

The District Court had other valid reasons for rejecting Birbilis's motion to dismiss. A motion to dismiss is "viewed with disfavor and rarely granted." *Tai* 

*Tam, LLC v. Missoula Cnty.*, 2022 MT 229, ¶ 18, 410 Mont. 465, 475, 520 P.3d 312, 319. A complaint "should not be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim that would entitle him to relief." *Id.* When Saddlebrook's well-pled allegations are taken as true, its claims easily meet the bar for surviving a motion to dismiss.

### 1. The Complaint Alleges Facts Which Establish Standing.

Birbilis asserts that Simonsen (and by extension Saddlebrook) lacks standing to bring the present claims because Simonsen was not the owner of Xynaquant, and because he released any claims against Birbilis. Appellant's Brief, p. 26. Notably, Birbilis asserts that Saddlebrook "pleads no facts with respect to the actual ownership of Xynaquant, *aside from* representing that Simonsen created Xynaquant and that Simonsen's claims were assigned...to Saddlebrook". *Id.* (emphasis added).

Birbilis's argument that these facts are insufficient is based entirely on the disputed evidence he improperly attempts to inject even after the District Court rejected it. As discussed above, such evidence was not made part of the record. As such, the facts as pleaded in the Complaint establish standing. Simonsen created Xynaquant, and his claims were ultimately assigned to Saddlebrook. CR 7, ¶¶ 1-2; 10-11. Saddlebrook has standing to pursue the claims.

# 2. The Complaint Alleges Facts Which Establish Personal Jurisdiction

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